THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

MAY 6 1996

BRIAN DAVID LEE,

Petitioner,

CLERK, DUPREME COURT By

v.

CASE NO: 87, 715 (DCA NO: 95-56)

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON APPLICATION FOR DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT ON THE MERITS

An Appeal From the District Court of Appeal
First District of Florida

JOHN C. HARRISON JOHN C. HARRISON, P.A. POST OFFICE BOX 876 12 OLD FERRY ROAD SHALIMAR, FLORIDA 32579 (904) 651-0354 FLORIDA BAR #187949

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

BRIAN DAVID LEE was the Defendant in the trial court and will be referred to in this brief as "Appellant", "Defendant", "Petitioner" or by his proper name. Reference to the Record on Appeal will be by the use of the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate volume and page number in parentheses. Reference to the Transcript will be by the use of the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate book and page number in parentheses. Reference to the Supplemental Record on Appeal will be by the use of the symbol "S" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

The Appellant was arrested on December 11, 1993 on charges of murder, aggravated battery and shooting into an occupied vehicle. (R-VI-1). The public defender was appointed to represent Appellant on December 13, 1993. (R-VI-4). On December 16, 1993 the public defender was allowed to withdraw and the undersigned was appointed to represent Appellant. (R-VI-7). On January 7, 1994 an information was filed charging Appellant with second degree murder with a firearm, attempted second degree murder with a firearm, and shooting at or into an occupied vehicle. (R-VI-11, 12). On July 21, 1994 the State filed an Amended Information charging Appellant with principal to second degree murder with a firearm, principal to attempted second degree murder, and principal to shooting at or (R-VI-37-39). On August 31, 1994 the into an occupied vehicle. State filed another Amended Information charging Appellant with second degree murder with a firearm (count one), attempted second degree murder with a firearm (count two), attempted second degree murder with a firearm (count three), attempted second degree murder with a firearm (count four), and shooting at or into an occupied vehicle (count five) (R-VI-54-57).

Various pre-trial motions were filed by the State, the Appellant and the two co-defendants, Maurice Horn and Demetrius Holden (R-VI-40-43) and (R-VI-57-76). Most of these motions are not relevant to this appeal. Any which may be relevant will be

fully discussed in the Argument portion of this brief.

Jury trial began on September 12, 1994. (R-BI- 11-183). The Appellant was present in the courtroom but was not present at the bench during the jury selection process. After jury selection and opening statements the State called twenty six (26) witnesses and introduced ninety five (95) items of evidence. After the State rested, the trial court denied the Appellant's motion for judgment of acquittal. (R-BV 918-937).

Appellant then made an opening statement and called five (5) witnesses. Appellant rested (R-BV-1042). Co-defendant Horn testified and then rested his case. (R-BV-1108). Co-defendant Holden presented no testimony and rested his case. (R-BV-1108). The State called one rebuttal witness and then rested. (R-BV-1114). All defendant's renewed their motions for judgment of acquittal which were denied. (R-BV-1121).

The closing arguments are particularly relevant to this brief and relevant portions will be more fully discussed in Issue III herein. On September 23, 1994, after closing arguments and jury deliberations, the jury returned the following verdicts as to Appellant:

Count I. Guilty of the lesser charge of third degree murder. The jury determined that Appellant or his principal did use a firearm, and that Appellant did personally possess a firearm.

Count II. Guilty of attempted third degree murder with

the same determination regarding the firearm.

Count III. Guilty of attempted third degree murder with the same determination regarding the firearm.

Count IV. Not guilty.

Count V. Guilty as charged of shooting at or into an occupied vehicle. (Appellant's verdict: R-VI-187-192). Co-defendant, Maurice Horn: Had the same verdict as the Appellant.

Co-defendant, Demetrius Holden: Was found not guilty on all counts.

A motion for new trial was filed on October 3, 1994 (R-VI-193-194) and argued on November 8, 1994, prior to sentencing. (R-VII-342-358). The motion for new trial was denied. (R-VII-358).

A sentencing hearing was held on November 8, 1994. At sentencing the Appellant objected to the enhancement of Appellant's sentence. (R-VII-19). The Court denied Appellant's objection. (R-VII-400). Appellant was sentenced, pursuant to the enhancement, to a term of seventeen (17) years in the department of corrections on count one. On counts two, three, and five the trial court imposed a sentence of fifteen years to run concurrent. The minimum mandatory sentence of three years was imposed on counts 1, 2 and 3 (R-VII- 401-402).

Notice of appeal was timely filed. (R-VII-284-285). The public defender was appointed to handle the appeal (R-VII-341). The First District Court of Appeal subsequently entered an order granting the public defender's motion to withdraw. On April 21,

1995 the trial court appointed the undersigned to represent Appellant on appeal.

On March 25, 1996 the First District Court of Appeal issued its opinion and certified the following questions to this Court:

- 1. Does the decision in <u>Coney</u> apply to "Pipeline cases", that is, those of similarly situated defendants whose cases were pending on direct review or not yet final during the time <u>Coney</u> was under consideration but prior to the issuance of the opinion?
- 2. When a defendant is charged with attempted second-decree murder and is convicted by a jury of the category 2 lesser-included offenses of attempted Third degree (felony)murder, do State v. Gray, 654 So.2d 552 (Fla. 1995), and Section 924.34, Florida Statutes (1991), require or permit the trial court, upon reversal of the conviction to enter judgement for attempted voluntary manslaughter, as category 1 necessarily included lesser offense of the crime charged?

If the answer is no, then do lesser-included offenses of the charged offense remain viable for a new trial?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Appellant was involuntarily absent from the sidebar when peremptory challenges were exercised. There was no waiver of Appellant's right to be present nor was there a ratification of the jury selection by the Appellant. The involuntary absence of Appellant at a critical stage of trial was a violation of Rule 3.180 and a denial of due process under the State and Federal Constitutions.

This Court should affirm the First District's decision to reverse Appellant's conviction for the non-existent crimes of attempted third degree murder. Additionally, this Court should determine that the trial court cannot, on remend enter a judgment for attempted voluntary manslaughter nor can "lesser included" offense be viable for a new trial.

Finally, the trial court erred in not granting Appellant's objection to the improper comments made by the prosecutor in closing argument. Additionally the trial court erred in not granting appellant's motion for mistrial or in the alternative, motion for a curative instruction. The prosecutor's comments went beyond acceptable bounds of advocacy and evidenced a preoccupation with obtaining a conviction at any cost.

ISSUE I

THE ACCUSED WAS INVOLUNTARILY ABSENT FROM THE SIDEBAR WHEN PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES WERE EXERCISED DURING THE CHALLENGING OF THE JURY. THERE IS NO RECORD OF A KNOWING AND VOLUNTARY WAIVER OF HIS PRESENCE. THERE IS NO RECORD THAT PETITIONER RATIFIED OR APPROVED THE PEREMPTORY STRIKES. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO MAKE ANY INQUIRY AS TO WHETHER PETITIONER'S ABSENCE WAS VOLUNTARY OR WHETHER HE APPROVED OR RATIFIED THE STRIKES. THE COURT FURTHER FAILED TO CERTIFY THAT PETITIONER'S ABSENCE WAS VOLUNTARY OR THAT HE RATIFIED THE PEREMPTORY STRIKES. THE INVOLUNTARY ABSENCE OF PETITIONER AT A CRITICAL STAGE OF TRIAL WAS A CLEAR VIOLATION OF RULE 3.180 AND A DENIAL OF DUE PROCESS UNDER THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS

The district court certified the following question to this Court:

DOES THE DECISION IN CONEY APPLY TO "PIPELINE CASES," THAT IS, THOSE OF SIMILARLY SITUATED DEFENDANTS WHOSE CASES WERE PENDING ON DIRECT REVIEW OR NOT YET FINAL DURING THE TIME CONEY WAS UNDER CONSIDERATION BUT PRIOR TO THE ISSUANCE OF THE OPINION?

The following argument is taken from the standard brief filed by the Public Defender's office for the Second Judicial Circuit on this same issue.

The First District Court of Appeal concluded that the holding of this Court in Coney v. State, 653 So.2d 1009 (Fla. 1995), that a "defendant has a right to be physically present at the immediate site were pretrial juror challenges are exercised" does not apply retrospectively to pipeline cases. The district court did not discuss whether, notwithstanding the question of whether Coney applied in his case, a new trial is necessary under this Court's decisions in Francis v. State, 413 So.2d 1175 (Fla. 1982), and Turner v. State, 530 So. 2d 45 (Fla. 1987).

In addition to the question certified, Petitioner respectfully

urges this Court to also unambiguously clarify whether it intended its holding in Coney that a "defendant has a right to be physically present at the immediate site where pretrial juror challenges are exercised" to be perspective only, or whether the Court's statement that its "ruling today clarifying this issue is prospective only" was meant to apply only to the remainder of the paragraph which follows the first sentence. In Coney, this Court said:

We conclude that the rule means just what it says: The defendant has a right to be physically present at the immediate site were pretrial juror challenges are exercised. See Francis v. State, 413 So.2d 1175 (Fla. 1982). Where this is impractical, such as where a bench conference is required, the defendant can waive this right and exercise constructive presence through counsel. In such a case, the court must certify through proper inquiry that the waiver is knowing, intelligent and voluntary. Alternatively, the defendant can ratify strikes made outside his presence by acquiescing in the strikes after they are made. See State v. Melendez, 244 So.2d 137 (Fla. 1971. Again, the court must certify the defendant's approval of the strikes through proper inquiry. Our ruling today clarifying this issue is prospective only.

Id. at 1013.

Petitioner contends that whether or not <u>Coney</u> is a clarification of existing law or new law, it nonetheless must be applied to pipeline cases.¹ Even were <u>Coney</u> not applied in this case, the rule of procedure and case law preceding <u>Coney</u> must be applied in the same manner as they were in Coney in the instant case.

A. Facts of the Case.

¹This Court should also be aware that this issue has been raised and briefed in depth in (<u>Lazaro</u>) Martinez v. State, Case No. 85,450, and addressed at oral argument in <u>Boyett v. State</u>, Case No. 81,971.

- Nowhere is it reflected the petitioner was informed of his right to be present at the bench.
- Petitioner was not present at the bench.
- Nowhere does the trial court inquire if the petitioner's absence from the bench is voluntary.
- Nowhere in the record does petitioner state he is waiving his right to be present.
- Nowhere does the trial court certify that the petitioner's absence from the bench is voluntary or that petitioner waived his right to be present after a proper inquiry be the court.
- Nowhere does the trial court ask the petitioner to ratify the choice of jurors made by his counsel, nor does petitioner ratify the peremptory challenges made by counsel on the record.

B. Coney and Pre-coney law

The specific holding in Coney - "The defendant has a right to be physically present at the immediate site where pretrial juror challenges are exercised" - was based upon both an existing Florida rule of criminal procedure and prior case law, both of which in turn were based on both the Florida and U.S. Constitutions. 3.180(a)(4), Fla.R.Crim.P., requires that a defendant in a criminal case be present "at the beginning of the trial during examination, challenging, impanelling, and swearing of the jury" and this Court ruled that this provision means exactly what it says. Coney, at This rule is to be strictly construed and applied, as Coney 1013. makes unequivocally clear. An accused is not present during the challenging of jurors if he or she is not at the location where the process is taking place. Frances v. State, 413 So.2d 1175 (Fla. 1982); <u>Turner v. State</u>, 530 So.2d 45 (Fla. 1987). Thus, it is not enough that an accused be present somewhere else in the courtroom or in the courthouse when peremptory challenging of the jury is occurring. The accused must be able to hear the proceedings and to be able to meaningfully participate in the process. If the accused is seated at the defense table while a whispered selection conference is being conducted at the judge's bench, he or she cannot be said to be present and meaningfully able to participate.

"The defendant has a right to be physically present at the immediate site where pretrial juror challenges are exercised." Coney at 1013. Moreover, the Court went on to state that a waiver of the right to be present must be certified by the court to be knowing, intelligent, and voluntary after a proper inquiry. The judge in this case made no inquiry or certification whatsoever. None of the requirements established by the Court in Coney, set forth at p. 14, were met in the lower court.

In addition to violating Rule 3.180(a)(4), the absence of the accused at this critical stage of trial also constituted a denial of due process under the state and federal constitutions because fundamental fairness might have been thwarted by his absence. Francis v. State, 413 So.2d 1175, 1177 (Fla. 1982); Snyder v. Massachusetts, 291 U.S. 97, 54 S.Ct. 330, 78 L.Ed. 674 (1934); Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S.Ct. 2525, 45 L.Ed.2d 562 (1975). Rule 3.180 is specifically designed to safeguard those constitutional rights. Thus, when the plain mandate of the rule is so clearly violated, as it was here, the constitutional rights the rule safeguards are also violated.

(1) Only Part of Coney Appears to Be "Prospective," and Such Language Has No Effect

on "Pipeline Cases" Such as This.

The entire <u>Coney</u> decision should apply to Petitioner since his case was on appeal at the time <u>Coney</u> was decided. A fair reading of this Court's opinion in <u>Coney</u> indicates that the only prospective parts of <u>Coney</u>'s holding are the requirements that the trial judge <u>certify</u> on the record <u>a waiver</u> of a defendant's right to be present at the bench and/or a <u>ratification</u> of counsel's action (or inaction) in the defendant's absence. However, the state and the 1st District Court of Appeal apparently believe that the defendant's right to be present at bench conferences where peremptory challenges are exercised is also a prospective rule. This is not so, and is refuted by this Court's reasoning underpinning its hold in <u>Coney</u>.

This Court said Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.180(a) meant what it says, and has always said, that a defendant has the right to be present at the immediate location where juror challenges are being made. The court cited the rule and its previous holding in Francis v. State, 413 So.2d 1175 (Fla. 1982), as authority for that proposition. Moreover, the state conceded in Coney that it was error under Francis because Coney was not present at a bench conference where juror challenges were made and the record was silent as to waiver or ratification. See Coney, at 1013. Surely, the state would not concede error based on a rule yet to be announced. The right to be present at the bench during the actual selection process preexisted Coney under the rule and under Francis and Turner, and the only "prospective" part must have been the requirements now placed

on the trial courts that they inquire and certify waivers and ratification of the actions of counsel on the record.

(2) State Is Estopped from Arquing Absence of Error.

Initially, the State of Florida is estopped from arguing that Petitioner's absence from the bench conference where peremptory challenges to prospective jurors were made was not error. Coney, when faced with the same facts, the state conceded error. <u>Id</u>., at 1013. The state cannot now assert otherwise in this case without violating Petitioner's right to equal protection of the law. See State v. Pitts, 249 So.2d 47, 48-50 (Fla. 1st DCA 1971) (violation of equal protection for the state to take contrary positions on the same issue in different cases). clearly pointed out the state's concession of error in its opinion.2 The case was then decided adversely to Coney on the sole basis of harmless error because only challenges for cause were made in Coney's absence. <u>Ibid</u>. Petitioner is asking this Court to apply the same law in his case that was applied in Coney's case. Equal protection under the law requires no less.

C. Coney and the Principles of Law Underlying Coney Must Be Applied to This "Pipeline Case"

Whether or not <u>Coney</u> is a clarification of existing law or new law, it must be applied to this case. Furthermore, whether or not

Coney was not present at the sidebar where the initial challenges were made, and the record fails to show that he waived his presence or ratified the strikes The State concedes this rule violation was error, but claims that it was harmless.

Coney, at 1013 (bold emphasis added).

Coney itself is applied to this case, the prior law upon which the decision in Coney rests must be applied to this case. To do less violates state and federal constitutional principles.

(1) Coney as a Clarification of Existing Law

Both a Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure and the due process clauses of the state and federal constitutions provide that a criminal defendant has the right to be present during any "critical" or "essential" stage of trial. See Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.180; Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 819 n.5, 95 S.Ct. 2525, 45 L.Ed.2d 562 (1975); Francis v. State, 413 So.2d 1175, 1177 (Fla. 1982).

Although Appellant was present in the courtroom, as was Coney, he was not physically present at the sidebar. Inferentially, Appellant could no more hear what was happening at the bench than the jury could, and the jury was also present in the court-room. Thus, Appellant was effectively excluded from this critical stage of the trial as was the jury. The exclusion of the jury was proper, of course; the absence of the accused was not.

(a) Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.180(a)(4)

Rule 3.180(a)(4), Fla.R.Crim.P., expressly provides:

(a) Presence of Defendant. In all prosecutions for crime the defendant shall be present:

(4) At the beginning of the trial during the examination, challenging, impanelling, and swearing of the jury; . . .

(b) Prior Case Law

In <u>Turner v. State</u>, 530 So.2d 45, 47-48, 49 (Fla. 1987), this

Court stated:

We recognized in <u>Francis v. State</u>, 413 So.2d 1175, 1177 (Fla. 1982), that the defendant has the constitutional right to be present at the stages of his trial where fundamental fairness **might be** thwarted by his absence. <u>Snyder v. Massachusetts</u>, 291 U.S. 97, 54 So.Ct. 330, 78 L.Ed.674 (1934). <u>See also, Faretta v. California</u>, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S.Ct. 2525, 45 L.Ed.2d 562 (1975).

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.180(a)(4) recognizes the challenging of jurors as one of the essential stages of a criminal trial where a defendant's presence is mandated.

A defendant's waiver of the right to be present at essential stages of trial must be knowing, intelligent and voluntary. Amazon v. State, 487 So.2d 8 (Fla.), cert.denied, 479 U.S. 914, 107 S.Ct. 314, 93 L.Ed.2d 288 (1886); Peede v. State, 474 So.2d 808 (Fla. 1985), cert.denied, 477 U.S. 909, 106 So.Ct. 3286, 91 L.Ed.2d 575 (1986).

Id. Nothing in the record demonstrates that Petitioner knew that he had the right to be physically present and to meaningfully participate in this critical function during his trial. Petitioner's involuntary absence thwarted the fundamental fairness of the proceedings. It was, in any event, a clear violation of Rule 3.180(a)(4)'s unambiguous language mandating his presence.

This Court most recently addressed the issue of the accused's presence during challenging of the jury in <u>Coney v. State</u>, 653 So.2d 1009 (Fla. 1995), holding:

As to Coney's absence from the bench conference, this Court has ruled:

[The defendant] has the constitutional right to be present at the stages of his trial where fundamental fairness might be thwarted by his absence. Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.180(a)(4) recognizes the challenging of jurors as one of the essential stages of a

criminal trial where a defendant's presence is mandated.

Francis v. State, 413 So.2d 1175, 1177 (Fla. 1982)

* * *

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