IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Cirist Deputy Clark

BRIAN DAVID LEE,

Petitioner,

v.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 87,715

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW
From the First District Court of Appeal

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0325791

GISELLE LYLEN RIVERA
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0508012

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600 COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ISSUE I.

The question certified by the district court has already been answered and does not rise to the level of a question of great public importance. Thus, discretionary review should be denied. The Court should also decline review because the petitioner is not a member of the pipeline class who could benefit from an affirmative answer to the certified question, as he did not raise the issue at trial.

Finally, the state urges that if this Court answers the question, that it answer the question in the negative. The question should be answered in the negative because the issue has been decided, because this Court has the authority to make its decisions prospective, and because modifications of rules of procedure are appropriately prospective only.

ISSUE II.

The Court should answer the certified question in the affirmative and hold that reversal of a conviction pursuant to State v. Gray permits the trial court, upon reversal of the conviction, to reduce the conviction and enter judgment for attempted manslaughter, a category one necessarily included

lesser offense of the crime charged. In the alternative, such reversal does not preclude retrial for any valid offense. Case law holds that original jeopardy continues while a conviction is on appeal, that reversal of a conviction on appeal, where the evidence is sufficient to uphold the conviction, does not interrupt jeopardy, and that an appellant/defendant who successfully obtains a reversal of a conviction may be retried. There is not double jeopardy bar to such reprosecution. These rules of law are particularly apropos where convicted criminals, as in this case, receive a beneficent change in appellate law which overturns settled law of long duration.

ISSUE III.

This Court should decline to consider the issue presented which is not one of the questions certified by the lower tribunal and which was deemed to be of no merit by that court. The comments complained of were fair response to the defendant's suggestion that the State had offered a victim/witness a secret deal in return for favorable testimony. If the comments complained of were, in fact, improper, they were not objected to in a timely fashion and were merely harmless in view of the overwhelming evidence of the defendant's guilt.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

DOES THE DECISION IN <u>CONEY</u> APPLY TO "PIPELINE CASES," THAT IS, THOSE OF SIMILARLY SITUATED DEFENDANTS WHOSE CASES WERE PENDING ON DIRECT REVIEW OR NOT YET FINAL DURING THE TIME <u>CONEY</u> WAS UNDER CONSIDERATION BUT PRIOR TO THE ISSUANCE OF THE OPINION?

The defendant seeks to have this Court recede from its clear statement in Coney v. State, 653 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1995) that its creation of a new rule was to have prospective application only. The lower court in this case specifically found that the defendant's claim was without merit holding that the decision in Coney was to have only prospective application.

Pursuant to Article V § 3(b)(4) Florida Constitution this

Court "[m]ay review any decision of a district court of appeal

that passes upon a question certified by it to be one of great

public importance." The District Court of Appeal of Florida,

First District has certified the above stated question,

therefore, this Court has jurisdiction.

While this Court has jurisdiction to answer this question certified by the lower tribunal, it also has the discretion to decline to do so. <u>State v. Burgess</u>, 326 So.2d 441 (Fla. 1976),

Stein v. Darby, 134 So.2d 232 (Fla. 1961) The State respectfully urges this Court to exercise its discretion and decline to review this case. Coffin v. State, 374 So.2d 504, 508 (Fla. 1979).

The certified question posed by the lower court improperly asks this Court to conduct a rehearing of its decision in <u>Coney</u>

<u>v. State</u>, 653 So.2d 1009, 1013 (Fla. 1995). In <u>Coney</u>, this Court interpreted rule 3.180(a) Fla. R. Crim. P. stating that:

Our ruling today clarifying this issue is prospective only.

Id. at 1013

In certifying its question, the District Court acknowledged that it understood the meaning of the language used by this Court in Coney, prospective means the decision does not apply to cases tried prior to the decision, by denying relief on this issue. On rehearing, which sought certification, the court cited to its prior decision in Lett v. State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D580 (Fla. 1st DCA March 25, 1996), a case in which the court questioned how the Coney decision can be reconciled with Smith v. State, 598 So.2d 1063 (Fla. 1992). In order to resolve what it perceived as an unanswered issue, the District Court once again certified the question.

The District Court's perception that an issue remains to be resolved is erroneous. Subsequent to the Smith decision, this Court has answered the question of how decisions of this Court are to be applied by the courts of this state. The issue was specifically addressed in Wuornos v. State, 644 So.2d 1000 (Fla. 1994), where this Court addressed the proper reading of Smith and held that Smith means that new points of law established by this Court shall be deemed retrospective with respect to all non-final cases unless this Court says otherwise. Subsequently, in Domberg v. State, 661 So.2d 285 (Fla. 1995), a case dealing with retroactivity, this Court referred to Smith in the following way:

Smith v. State, 598 So.2d 1063 (Fla. 1992), limited by Wuornos v. State, 644 So.2d 1000, 1008 n.4 (Fla. 1994) (Smith read to mean that new points of law established by this Court shall be deemed retrospective with respect to all non-final cases unless this Court says otherwise), cert. denied ____ U.S. ___, 115 S. Ct. 1705, 131 L. Ed.2d 566 (1995), State v. Jones, 485 So.2d 1283 (Fla. 1986)

Domberg at 287.

Thus, the issue of how Smith is to be read has been decided.

Since the issue presented by the certified question has been put to rest by recent decisions of this Court, it cannot be said that the certified question is one of any public importance.

Therefore, this Court should decline to exercise its jurisdiction

to answer the already decided question presented by this case. See <u>Stein</u>.

A second reason why this Court should decline to exercise its jurisdiction in this case involves a misapplication, by the District Court, of the concept of pipeline cases. The Lett decision, relied upon by the Court below, misapplies the definition of a pipeline case entitled to obtain the benefit from a new decision. A pipeline case is one in which the issue is properly preserved in an appeal which is not final at the time the change in law occurs. In order to be a pipeline case, an appellant must establish that he is similarly situated and his issue is properly preserved. This was made clear by this Court's holding in Gibson v. State, 661 So.2d 288 (Fla. 1995), in which this Court held that issues relating to a defendant's presence during jury voir dire (like other jury voir dire issues) must be preserved in the trial court by contemporaneous objection. Gibson case presented this Court with the following issue:

Gibson claims error in two respects. First, he argues that the trial court violated his right to be present with counsel during the challenging of jurors by conducting the challenges in a bench conference. Second, he argues that the trial court violated his right to the assistance of counsel by denying defense counsel's request to consult with Gibson before exercising peremptory challenges.

This Court specifically held that:

In Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982), we said that, "in order for an argument to be cognizable on appeal, it must be the specific contention asserted as legal ground for the objection, exception, or motion below." In this case, we find that Gibson's lawyer did not raise the issue that is now being asserted on appeal. If counsel wanted to consult with his client over which jurors to exclude and to admit, he did not convey this to the trial court. On the record, he asked for an afternoon recess for the general purpose of meeting with his client. Further, there is no indication in this record that Gibson was prevented or limited in any way from consulting with his counsel concerning the exercise of juror challenges. On this record, no objection to the court's procedure was ever In short, Gibson has demonstrated neither error nor prejudice on the record before this Court. Cf. Coney v. State, 653 So.2d 1009, 1013 (Fla. 1995)

Gibson at 290-291

Thus, Gibson's attempt to raise for the first time on appeal a Coney issue was rejected because it was not properly preserved.

This rule of law operates independently of Coney and applies even to cases where the trial takes place after Coney issued.

Likewise, the defendant in this case did not object in the trial court and his case is indistinguishable from Gibson.

This Court should discourage the promiscuous certification of irrelevant questions by declining to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction and by instructing the district courts that unpreserved claims cannot be the basis for "an issue of great

public importance." Misapplication of the designation "this is an issue of great public importance" when the issue certified could not provide the defendant with relief is all too common. In fact, this "Coney" issue has been repeatedly certified by the lower tribunal in cases which do not contain any objection to the trial court procedure. See Branch v. State, No 87,717, Bell v. State, No. 87,716, Gainer v. State, No. 87,720, Lett No. 87,541, Horn No. 87,789 Continuation of this practice should be discouraged. This Court, if it exercises discretionary review, should answer the certified question in the negative.

This Court specifically answered the question of how its decisions are to be applied in, <u>Wuornos v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, where this Court addressed the proper reading of <u>Smith</u> and held that <u>Smith</u> means that new points of law established by this Court shall be deemed retrospective with respect to all non-final cases <u>unless</u> this Court says otherwise. The Court noted that it had repeatedly held that it had the authority to make new rules prospective and cited a series of cases in which it had dictated that a new rule announced therein was to be prospective only in application.

The Court, as previously stated, in <u>Domberg v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, recognized that <u>Smith</u>, as limited by <u>Wuornos</u>, meant that new

points of law established by this Court shall be deemed retrospective with respect to all non-final cases unless this Court says otherwise.

Petitioner's arguments are based on a fundamental misunderstanding of the nature and scope of this Court's authority. Unlike the United States Supreme Court, this Court has the authority to promulgate procedural rules and modify them when necessary. For obvious reasons, changes to procedural rules are almost always prospective. Tucker v. State, 357 So.2d 719 (Fla. 1978) Thus, in numerous circumstances, rulings of this Court will only apply prospectively. Adopting a rule akin to the United States Supreme Court rule in Griffin v. Kentucky, 479 U.S. 314 (1987) would be inappropriate given this Court's rule making authority and would also unduly restrict the Court's ability to modify the rules.

This approach is also appropriate given the subject of this litigation. As in R.J.A v. Foster, 603 So.2d 1167 (Fla. 1992) where the Court found the procedural rule superseded the statutory juvenile speedy trial provision, Rule 3.180 superseded the provisions of § 914.01 Fla. Statutes. See: Thomas v. State, 65 So.2d 866, 868(Fla. 1953) Thus, the rule is a procedural mechanism designed to implement a substantive right.

It must also be recognized that the rights provided in the rule and the rights mandated by the constitution are not synonymous. In <u>Shriner v. State</u>, 452 So.2d 929 (Fla. 1984) this Court held that it was not fundamental error when a defendant was absent from bench conferences because he was present in the courtroom. Likewise, in <u>Jones v. State</u>, 569 So.2d 1234, (Fla. 1990), this Court found no error when Jones was not at the sidebar during selection of the jury even though the record did not reflect an affirmative waiver.

Thus, the <u>Coney</u> interpretation of the term "present" is not constitutionally mandated, but is a modification of a rule of procedure setting out the manner in which the constitutional right should be implemented. See: <u>R.J.A.</u>

Reading the rule in this fashion is in accord with federal practice. The United States law regarding this issue was summarized in <u>United States v. McCoy</u>, 8 F.3d 495, 496 (7th Cir. 1993) in which the Court stated that:

[a] defendant's right to be present at trial derives from several sources. First, the defendant has a sixth amendment right to confront witnesses or evidence against him. See *United States v. Gagnon*, 470 U.S. 522, 526, 105 S. Ct. 1482, 1484, 84 L. Ed.2d 486 (1985) (per curiam); *Verdin v. O'Leary*, 972 F.2d 1467, 1481 (7th Cir.1992); *United States v. Shukitis*, 877 F.2d 1322, 1329 (7th Cir.1989). That right is not implicated here, because no witness or evidence against

McCoy was presented at any of the conferences. See Verdin, 972 F.2d at 1481-82.

The defendant also has a due process right to be present "'whenever his presence has a relation, reasonably substantial, to the fulness of his opportunity to defend against the charge.'" Gagnon, 470 U.S. at 526, 105 S. Ct. at 1484 (quoting Snyder v. Massachusetts, 291 U.S. 97, 105-06, 54 S. Ct. 330, 332, 78 L. Ed. 674 (1934). But "'the presence of a defendant is a condition of due process to the extent that a fair and just hearing would be thwarted by his absence, and to that extent only.'" Id. (quoting Snyder, 291 U.S. at 107-08, 54 S. Ct. at 333); also Verdin, 972 F.2d at 1481-82; United States v. Moore, 936 F.2d 1508, 1523 (7th Cir.), cert. denied, --- U.S. ----, 112 S. Ct. 607, 116 L. Ed. 2d 630 Shukitis, 877 F.2d at 1329-30. determination is made in light of the record as a Gagnon, 470 U.S. at 526-27, 105 S. Ct. at 1484.

In Gagnon, the Supreme Court found that defendants' due process rights were not violated when they were excluded from an in camera conference between the judge, defense counsel and a juror regarding the juror's possible bias. The Court based its holding on the fact that the defendants "could have done nothing had they been at the conference, nor would they have gained anything by attending." Id. at 527, 105 S. Ct. at 1485. In Shukitis, we similarly held that a defendant's due process rights were not implicated when he was excluded from an in camera conference that addressed a separation of witnesses order. We reasoned that the absence did not affect the court's ability to decide the issue or otherwise diminish Shukitis' ability to defend against the charges, and that Shukitis' interests were adequately protected by his counsel's presence at the conference. 877 F.2d at 1330. See also Moore, 936 F.2d at 1523.

As in *Gagnon* and *Shukitis*, McCoy's absence from the conferences did not detract from his defense or in any other way affect the fundamental fairness of his trial.

Indeed, McCoy seems to have conceded this point, having offered no argument to the contrary. Like Shukitis, McCoy's interests were sufficiently protected by his counsel's presence at the conferences. McCoy therefore had no due process right to attend.

Finally, Fed. R. Crim. P. 43 entitles defendants to be present "at every stage of the trial including the impaneling of the jury...." This right is broader than the constitutional right (Shukitis, 877 F.2d at 1330), but is waived if the defendant does not assert it. Reversing the Ninth Circuit in Gagnon, the Supreme Court explained:

We disagree with the Court of Appeals that failure to object is irrelevant to whether a defendant had voluntarily absented himself under Rule 43 from an in camera conference of which he is aware. The district court need not get an express "on the record" waiver from the defendant for every trial conference which a defendant may have a right to attend.... A defendant knowing of such a discussion must assert whatever right he may have under Rule 43 to be present.

470 U.S. at 528, 105 S. Ct. at 1485; Cf. Taylor v. United States, 414 U.S. 17, 18-20, 94 S. Ct. 194, 195-96, 38 L. Ed. 2d 174 (1973) (per curiam). A defendant may not assert a Rule 43 right for the first time on appeal. Gagnon, 470 U.S. at 529, 105 S. Ct. at 1485; Shukitis, 877 F.2d at 1330. Because McCoy did not invoke Rule 43 either during trial or in a post-trial motion, he has waived any right under that rule.

Because of the availability of consultation between a lawyer and his client present for trial, there is no due process violation when a defendant is not present at the bench during a sidebar for peremptory challenges. See, McCoy; United States v.

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